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64B15-19.001 Purpose.

The board provides within this rule disciplinary guidelines which shall be imposed upon applicants or licensees whom it regulates under chapter 459, F.S. The purpose of this rule is to notify applicants and licensees of the ranges of penalties which will routinely be imposed during a formal or informal hearing unless the board finds it necessary to deviate from the guidelines for the stated reasons given within this rule. Each range includes the lowest and highest penalty and all penalties falling between. For purposes of this rule, the order of penalties, ranging from lowest to highest, is: letter of concern; reprimand; probation; fine; restriction or certification with restrictions; suspension, revocation or refusal to certify. Pursuant to section 459.015(2), F.S., combinations of these penalties are permissible by law. Nothing in this rule shall preclude any discipline imposed upon an applicant or licensee pursuant to a stipulation or settlement agreement, nor shall the ranges of penalties set forth in this rule preclude the probable cause panel from issuing a letter of guidance upon a finding of probable cause where appropriate.

Rulemaking Authority 456.079, 459.005, 459.015(5) FS. Law Implemented 456.079 FS. History–New 9-30-87, Formerly 21R-19.001, 61F9-19.001, 59W-19.001, Amended 2-2-98, 11-12-00.

64B15-19.002 Violations and Penalties.

In imposing discipline upon applicants and licensees, the board shall act in accordance with the following disciplinary guidelines and shall impose a penalty within the range corresponding to the violations set forth below. The statutory language is intended to provide a description of the violation and is not a complete statement of the violation; the complete statement may be found in the statutory provision cited directly under each violation description.

	(1) Attempting to obtain, obtaining or renewing a license or certificate by bribery, fraud or through an error of the Department or board.
(Sections 456.072(1)(h) and
459.015(1)(a), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Denial with ability to reapply immediately upon payment of $5,000.00 fine or probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Denial with ability to reapply in not less than 3 years or revocation and $7,500.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial with ability to ability to reapply in not less than 3 years and $10,000.00 fine or suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.
	Denial of license with no ability to reapply or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(2) Action taken against license by another jurisdiction.
(Sections 456.072(1)(f) and

459.015(1)(b), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Imposition of discipline comparable to discipline that would have been imposed in Florida if the substantive violation occurred in Florida to suspension or denial of the license until the license is unencumbered in the jurisdiction in which disciplinary action was originally taken, and an administrative fine ranging from $1,000.00 to $5,000.00.
	Imposition of discipline comparable to discipline that would have been imposed in Florida if the substantive violation occurred in Florida to revocation or denial of the license until the license is unencumbered in the jurisdiction in which disciplinary action was originally taken, and an administrative fine ranging from $5,000.00 to $10,000.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Imposition of discipline comparable to discipline that would have been imposed in Florida if the substantive violation occurred in Florida to suspension or denial of the license until the license is unencumbered in the jurisdiction in which disciplinary action was taken, and an administrative fine ranging from $5,000.00 to $10,000.00.
	Revocation and an administrative fine of $10,000.00 or denial of license until the licensee’s license is unencumbered in the jurisdiction where disciplinary action was originally taken.

	(3) Guilty of crime directly relating to practice or ability to practice.
(Sections 456.072(1)(c) and
459.015(1)(c), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and $2,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $5,000.00 fine or denial of license with ability to reapply for licensure in not less than 3 years revocation.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	And $10,000.00 fine or permanent denial of license.

	(4) False, deceptive, or misleading advertising.
(Section 459.015(1)(d), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern.
	Reprimand and $1,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $2,000.00 fine 3 month.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	1 year suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	(5) Failure to report another licensee in violation.
(Sections 456.072(1)(i) and
459.015(1)(e), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern.
	Reprimand and $1,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $2,500.00 fine.
	Probation and $2,500.00 fine.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	(6) Aiding unlicensed practice.
(Sections 456.072(1)(j) and 459.015(1)(f), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and $2,500.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(7) Failure to perform legal duty or obligation.
(Sections 456.072(1)(k) and
459.015(1)(g), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $1,000.00 fine.
	Denial with ability to reapply after no less than 2 years or revocation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(8) Failing to comply with the educational requirement prior to ordering low-THC cannabis.

(Section 456.072(1)(k), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	A letter of concern, and a fine of $1,000.00.
	Probation and a fine of $5,000.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	A reprimand and a fine of $5,000.00.
	Revocation and a fine of $10,000.00.

	(9) Giving false testimony regarding the practice of medicine.
(Section 459.015(1)(h), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $2,500.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000 fine or denial of license.

	(10) Filing a false report or failing to file a report as required.
(Sections 456.072(1)(l) and 459.015(1)(i), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine or denial with ability to reapply in not less than 1 year.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial with ability to reapply in not less than 3 years or suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.
	Denial with no ability to reapply or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(11) Kickbacks and unauthorized fee arrangements.
(Section 459.015(1)(j), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and $2,500.00 fine.
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	(12) Failure to provide financial disclosure form to a patient being referred to an entity in which the referring physician is an investor.
(Section 456.053, F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand.
	Reprimand and $2,500.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(13) Improper refusal to provide health care.
(Section 459.015(1)(k), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(14) Sexual misconduct within the patient physician relationship.
(Sections 456.072(1)(v) and
459.015(1)(l), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and $10,000.00 fine.
	Denial of licensure or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.
	Denial of licensure or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(15) Deceptive, untrue, or fraudulent misrepresentations in the practice of medicine.
(Sections 456.072(1)(a), (m) and
459.015(1)(m), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $10,000.00 fine.
	Denial of licensure or suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial of licensure or suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.
	Denial of licensure or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(16) Improper solicitation of patients.
(Section 459.015(1)(n), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(17) Failure to keep written medical records.
(Section 459.015(1)(o), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(18) Fraudulent, alteration or destruction of patient records.
(Section 459.015(1)(p), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(19) Exercising improper influence on patient.
(Sections 456.072(1)(n) and
459.015(1)(q), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(20) Improper advertising of pharmacy.
(Section 459.015(1)(r), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern.
	Reprimand and $1,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $2,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(21) Performing, professional services not authorized by patient.
(Section 459.015(1)(s), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(22) Controlled substance violations.
(Section 459.015(1)(t), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(23) Prescribing or dispensing of a scheduled drug by the physician to himself.
(Section 459.015(1)(u), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(24) Use of amygdalin (Laetrile).
(Section 459.015(1)(v), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(25) Inability to practice medicine with skill and safety.
(Sections 456.072(1)(z) and
459.015(1)(w), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Denial or probation and $2,500.00 fine.
	Denial or suspension until licensee is able to demonstrate to the Board ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial or suspension until licensee is able to demonstrate to the Board ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(26) Gross Malpractice.
(Section 459.015(1)(x), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Denial or probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(27) Repeated Malpractice as defined in Section 456.50, F.S.
(Section 459.015(1)(x), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Revocation or denial of license and fine of $1,000.00.
	Revocation or denial of license and fine of $10,000.00.

	(28) Failure to practice medicine in accordance with appropriate level of care, skill and treatment recognized in general law related to the practice of medicine.
(Sections 456.50(1)(g) and 459.015(1)(x), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern, up to one (1) year probation and $1,000.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Two (2) year probation and $7,5000.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(29) Improper performing of experimental treatment.
(Section 459.015(1)(y), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Denial or reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(30) Practicing beyond one’s scope.
(Sections 456.072(1)(o) and
459.015(1)(z), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Denial or reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(31) Delegation of professional responsibilities to unqualified person.
(Sections 456.072(1)(p) and
459.015(1)(aa), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $2,500.00 fine.
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(32) Violation of law, rule, order, or failure to comply with subpoena.
(Sections 456.072(1)(q), (dd) and
459.015(1)(bb), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Denial or reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(33) Restricting another from lawfully advertising services.
(Section 459.015(1)(cc), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern.
	Reprimand and $1,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $2,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	3 month suspension to be followed by probation and a $5,000.00 fine.
	1 year suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	(34) Procuring, aiding or abetting an unlawful abortion.
(Section 459.015(1)(dd), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(35) Presigning blank prescription forms.
(Section 459.015(1)(ee), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(36) Prescribing a Schedule II substance for office use.
(Section 459.015(1)(ff), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(37) Improper use of Schedule II amphetamine or sympathomimetic amine drug.
(Section 459.015(1)(gg), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(38) Failure to adequately supervise assisting personnel.
(Section 459.015(1)(hh), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(39) Improper use of substances for muscle building or enhancement of athletic performance.
(Section 459.015(1)(ii), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(40) Misrepresenting, concealing a material fact during licensing, or disciplinary procedure.
(Section 459.015(1)(jj), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Denial with ability to reapply immediately upon payment of $5,000.00 fine or probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Denial with ability to reapply in not less than 3 years or revocation and $7,500.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial with ability to reapply in not less than 3 years and $10,000.00 fine or suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.
	Denial of license with no ability to reapply or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(41) Improperly interfering with an investigation or disciplinary proceeding.
(Sections 456.072(1)(r) and
459.015(1)(kk), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and $10,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(42) Failing to report any licensee who has voilated the disciplinary act who provides services at the same office.
(Section 459.015(1)(ll), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern.
	Reprimand and $1,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $2,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(43) Giving corroborating written medical expert opinion without reasonable investigation.
(Section 459.015(1)(mm), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(44) Failure to comply with guidelines for use of obesity drugs.
(Section 459.0135, F.S. and
Rule 64B15-14.004, F.A.C.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(45) Falsely advertising or holding oneself out as a board-certified specialist.
(Section 459.015(1)(nn), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(46) Failing to provide patients with information about their patient rights and how to file a complaint.
(Sections 456.072(1)(u) and
459.015(1)(oo), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern.
	Reprimand and $1,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $2,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(47) Violating any rule adopted by the board
	
	

	or department.
(Sections 456.072(1)(b) and
459.015(1)(pp), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Denial or letter of concern and $1,000.00 fine, demonstration of compliance with the rule.
	Denial or suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine, a reprimand, completion of a laws and rules course, and demonstration of compliance with the rule.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial or reprimand, completion of laws and rules course, demonstration of compliance with the rule, probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Denial with no ability to reapply or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(48) Using a Class III or a Class IV laser device without having complied with the rules adopted pursuant to section 501.122(2), F.S.
(Section 456.072(1)(d), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $1,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(49) Failing to comply with the educational course requirements for human immunodeficiency virus and acquired immune deficiency syndrome.
(Section 456.072(1)(e), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $2,500.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(50) Having been found liable in a civil proceeding for knowingly filing a false report or complaint with the department against another licensee.
(Section 456.072(1)(g), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $5,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(51) Failing to comply with the educational course requirements for domestic violence.
(Section 456.072(1)(s), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and $2,500.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(52) Failing to comply with the requirements for profiling and credentialing.
(Section 456.072(1)(w), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	$2,500.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(53) Failing to report to the board in writing within 30 days after the licensee has been convicted or found guilty of, or entered a plea of nolo contendere to a crime in any jurisdiction.
(Section 456.072(1)(x), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Imposition of discipline that would have been imposed in Florida if the substantive violation occurred in Florida to suspension or denial of the license until the license is unencumbered in the jurisdiction in which disciplinary action was originally taken, and an adminsitrative fine ranging from $1,000 to $5,000.00.
	Imposition of discipline comparable to discipline that would have been imposed in Florida if the substantive violation occurred in Florida to revocation or denial of the license until the license is unencumbered in the jurisdictionin which disciplinary action was originally taken and an administrative fine ranging from $5,000.00 to $10,000.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Imposition of discipline comparable to discipline that would have been imposed in Florida if the substantive violation occurred in Florida to suspension or denial of the license until the license is unencumbered in the jurisdiction in which disciplinary action was originally taken, and an administrative fine ranging from $5,000.00 to $10,000.00.
	Revocation and an administrative fine of $10,000.00 or denial of license until the licensee’s license is unencumbered in the jurisdiction where discipilinary action was originally taken.

	(54) Using information about people involved in motor vehicle accidents which has been derived from accident reports made by law enforcement officers or persons involved in accidents pursuant to section 316.066, F.S., or using information published in a newspaper or other news publication or through a radio or television broadcast that has used information gained from such reports, for the purposes of commercial or any other solicitation whatsoever of the people involved in such accidents.
(Section 456.072(1)(y), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern.
	Reprimand and $1,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and $2,000.00 fine.
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(55) Testing positive for any drug on any confirmed preemployment or employer-ordered drug screening.
(Section 456.072(1)(aa), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(56) Performing or attempting to perform health care services on the wrong patient, a wrong procedure, an unauthorized, unnecessary or unrelated procedure.
(Section 456.072(1)(bb), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE: 
	Denial or probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE: 
	Denial or suspension and $10,000.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(57) Leaving a foreign body in a patient such as a sponge, clamp, forceps, surgical needle or other paraphernalia.
(Section 456.072(1)(cc), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Denial or probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial or suspension and $10,000.00 fine.
	Denial or revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(58) Being terminated for cause, from a treatment program for impaired practitioners, as described in section 456.076, F.S., for failure to comply, without good cause, with the terms of the monitoring or treatment contract entered into by the licensee, or for not successfully completing any drug-treatment or alcohol-treatment program.
(Section 456.072(1)(hh), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Stayed suspension and probation and $2,500.00 fine.
	Suspension until licensee is able to demonstrate to the Board ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension until licensee is able to demonstrate to the Board ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety to be followed by probation and $7,500.00 fine.
	

	(59) Engaging in a pattern of practice when prescribing medicinal drugs or controlled substances which demonstrates a lack of reasonable skill or safety to patients, a violation of any provision of chapter 456, or sections 893.055 and 893.0551, F.S., a violation of the applicable practice act, or a violation of any rules adopted under this chapter or the applicable practice act of the prescribing practitioner.

(Section 456.072(1)(gg), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	One year Probation and $1,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension to be followed by probation and $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and $10,000.00 fine.

	(60) Being convicted of, or entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any misdemeanor or felony, regardless of adjudication, under 18 USC s. 669, ss. 285-287, s. 371, s. 1001, s. 1035, s. 1341, s.1343, s. 1347, s. 1349, or s. 1518, or 42 USC ss. 1320a-7b, relating to the Medicaid program.
(Section 456.072(1)(ii), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Revocation and a fine of $10,000.00 or denial of application for licensure.
	

	(61) Failing to remit the sum owed to the state for overpayment from the Medicaid program pursuant to a final order, judgment, or settlement.
(Section 456.072(1)(jj), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern and a fine of $500.00.
	Probation, and a fine of $1,000.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and a fine of $500.00.
	Revocation and a fine of $1,000.00.

	(62) Being terminated from the State Medicaid program or any other state Medicaid program, or the federal Medicare program.

(Section 456.072(1)(kk), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern and a fine of $500.00.
	Suspension and a fine of $1,000.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and a fine of $500.00.
	revocation and a fine of $1,000.00.

	(63) Being convicted of, or entering into a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any misdemeanor or felony, regardless of adjudication, which relates to health care fraud.

(Section 456.072(1)(ll), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Revocation and fine of $10,000.00 or denial of application for licensure.
	

	(64) A violation of Rule 64B15-14.0051, F.A.C.
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation for a term no less than two (2) years and a $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension for a minimum of one (1) year to be followedby a term of probation and a $10,000.00 fine.
	Revocation.

	(65) A violation of Rule 64B15-14.0052, F.A.C.
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation for a term no less than one (1) year and a $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension for a minimum of six months to be followed by a term of probation and a $10,000.00 fine.
	Revocation.

	(66) Registration of pain clinic by a designated physician through misrepresentation or fraud.

(Section 459.015(1)(rr)1., F.S.)
	
	

	(a) For registering a pain clinic through misrepresentation.
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern and a $1,000.00 fine.
	Probation and a $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and a $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	(b) For registering a pain clinic through fraud.
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.
	

	(67) Procuring or attempting to procure, the registration of a pain management clinic for any other person by making or causing to be made, any false representation.

(Section 459.015(1)(rr)2., F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.
	

	(68) Failing to comply with any requirement of chapter 499, F.S., the Florida Drug and Cosmetic Act; 21 U.S.C., ss. 301-392, the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act; 21 U.S.C. ss. 821 et seq., the Drug Abuse Prevention Control Act; or chapter 893, F.S., the Florida Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act.

(Section 459.015(1)(rr)3., F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern and a $1,000.00 fine.
	Probation and a $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and a $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension, followed by a period of probation, and a $10,000.00 fine.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and a $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	(69) Being convicted of or found guilty of, regardless of adjudication to, a felony or any other crime involving moral turpitude, fraud, dishonesty, or deceit in any jurisdiction of the courts of this state, or any other state, or of the United States.

(Section 459.015(1)(rr)4., F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and a $1,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension and a $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	(70) Being convicted of, or disciplined by a regulatory agency of the Federal Government or a regulatory agency of another state for any offense that would constitute a violation of chapter 459, F.S.

(Section 459.015(1)(rr)5., F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	From imposition of discipline comparable to the discipline which would have been imposed if the substantive violation had occurred in Florida and a $1,000.00 fine.
	Suspension until the license is unencumbered in the jurisdiction in which disciplinary action was originally taken, and a $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	From imposition of discipline comparable to the discipline which would have been imposed if the substantive violation had occurred in Florida and a $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	(71) Being convicted of, or entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, regardless of adjudication, a crime which relates to the practice of, or the ability to practice, a licensed health care profession.

(Section 459.015(1)(rr)6., F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and a $1,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension and a $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	(72) Being convicted of, or entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, regardless of adjudication, a crime which relates to health care fraud.

(Section 459.015(1)(rr)7., F.S.)
	
	

	(a) Being convicted of, or entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, regardless of adjudication, a crime relating to healthcare fraud in dollar amounts in excess of $5,000.00.
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.
	

	(b) Being convicted of, or entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, regardless of adjudication, a crime relating to healthcare fraud in dollar amounts of $5,000.00 or less.
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Suspension, followed by a period of probation, and a $10,000.00 fine.
	

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.
	

	(73) Dispensing any medicinal drug based upon a communication that purports to be a presciption as defined in section 465.003(14) or 893.02, F.S., if the dispensing practitioner knows or has reason to believe that the purported prescription is not based upon a valid practitioner-patient relationship.

(Section 459.015(1)(rr)8., F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE: 
	Reprimand and a $1,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE: 
	Probation and a $5,000.00 fine.
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	(74) Failing to timely notify the Board of the date of his or her termination from a pain management clinic as required by section 459.0137(2)€, F.S.

(Section 459.015(1)(rr)9., F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern and a $1,000.00 fine.
	Probation and a $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and a $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension, followed by a period of probation, and a $10,000.00 fine.

	THIRD OFFENSE: 
	Suspension, followed by a period of probation, and a $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	(75) Failing to timely notify the Department of the theft of prescription blanks from a pain management clinic or a breach of other methods for prescribing within 24 hours as required by section 459.0137(2)(d), F.S.

(Section 459.015(1)(ss), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern and a $1,000.00 fine.
	Probation and a $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Probation and a $5,000.00 fine.
	Suspension, followed by a period of probation, and a $10,000.00 fine.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Suspension, followed by a period of probation, and a $7,500.00 fine.
	Revocation and a $10,000.00 fine.

	(76) Promoting or advertising through any communication media the use, sale, or dispensing of any controlled substance appearing on any schedule in chapter 893, F.S.

(Section 459.015(1)(tt), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern and a $1,000.00 fine.
	1 year suspension, followed by a period of probation, and a $5,000.00 fine.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and a $5,000.00 fine.
	1 year suspension, followed by a period of probation, and a $10,000.00 fine.

	(77) Failure to comply with the controlled substance prescribing requirements of section 456.44, F.S.

(Section 456.072(1)(mm), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Suspension of license for a period of six (6) months followed by a period of probation and an administrative fine in the amount of $10,000.00.
	Revocation and an administrative fine in the amount of $10,000.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension of license for a period of one (1) year followed by a period of probation and an administrative fine in the amount of $10,000.00.
	Revocation and an administrative fine in the amount of $10,000.00.

	(78) Providing false or deceptive expert witness testimony related to the practice of medicine.

(Section 459.015(1)(qq), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and an administrative fine of $5,000.00.
	Revocation and an administrative fine of $10,000.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension and an administrative fine of $7,500.00.
	Revocation and an administrative fine of $10,000.00.

	(79) Failure to comply with the requirements of section 390.0111(3), F.S., regarding termination of pregnancies.

(Section 456.072(1)(k), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern and an administrative fine of $1,000.00.
	A period of probation and an administrative fine in the amount of $2,500.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and an administrative fine of $2,500.00.
	Suspension followed by a period of probation and an administrative fine in the amount of $5,000.00.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and an administrative fine of $5,000.00.
	Revocation and an administrative fine in the amount of $10,000.00.

	(80) Dispensing a controlled substance listed in Schedule II or Schedule III in violation of section 465.0276, F.S.

(Section 459.015)(1)(uu), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Probation and an administrative fine of $1,000.00.
	Revocation and an administrative fine of $10,000.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Suspension followed by a period of probation and an administrative fine of $5,000.00.
	Revocation and an administrative fine of $10,000.00.

	(81) Willfully failing to comply with section 627.64194 or 641.513, F.S. with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice.

(Section 459.015(1)(vv), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern.
	Reprimand and an administrative fine in the amount of $1,000.00 to $5,000.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Reprimand.
	Revocation and an administrative fine in the amount of $5,000.00 to $10,000.00.

	(82) Issuing a physician certification as defined in section 381.986, F.S., in a manner out of compliance with the requirements of that section and the rules adopted thereunder.

(Section 459.015(1)(ww), F.S.
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Denial or probation and an administrative fine of $1,000.00. 
	Denial or revocation and an administrative fine of $5,000.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Denial or suspension and an administrative fine of $5,000.00.
	Denial or revocation and an administrative fine of $10,000.00.

	(83) Failure to consult the prescription drug monitoring system, as required by section 893.055(8), F.S.

(Section 459.015(1)(g), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern and an administrative fine of $1,000.00. 
	Reprimand and an administrative fine of $2,500.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and an administrative fine of $2,500.00.
	Suspension and an administrative fine of $5,000.00.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Suspension and an administrative fine of $5,000.00.
	Revocation and an administrative fine in the amount of $10,000.00.

	(84) Failure to report adverse incidents in planned out-of-hospital births by section 459.015(1)(g), F.S.

(Section 459.015(1)(g), F.S.)
	
	

	FIRST OFFENSE:
	Letter of concern and an administrative fine of $1,000.00. 
	Reprimand and an administrative fine of $2,500.00.

	SECOND OFFENSE:
	Reprimand and an administrative fine of $2,500.00.
	Suspension and an administrative fine of $5,000.00.

	THIRD OFFENSE:
	Suspension and an administrative fine of $5,000.00.
	Revocation and an administrative fine in the amount of $10,000.00.


Rulemaking Authority 456.079, 459.015(5) FS. Law Implemented 381.986(4)(d), 456.072, 456.079, 456.50, 459.015 FS. History–New 9-30-87, Amended 10-28-91, 1-12-93, Formerly 21R-19.002, 61F9-19.002, 59W-19.002, Amended 2-2-98, 2-11-01, 6-7-01, 2-26-02, 12-7-05, 11-14-06, 11-27-06, 5-10-10, 7-27-10, 11-10-11, 3-27-12, 7-3-12, 1-1-15, 11-27-16, 4-30-18, 8-9-18.
64B15-19.003 Aggravating or Mitigating Circumstances.

When either the petitioner or respondent is able to demonstrate aggravating or mitigating circumstances to the board by clear and convincing evidence, the board shall be entitled to deviate from the above guidelines in imposing discipline upon an applicant or licensee. Absence of any such evidence of aggravating or mitigating circumstances before the hearing officer prior to the issuance of a recommended order shall not relieve the board of its duty to consider evidence of mitigating or aggravating circumstances. Aggravating and mitigating circumstances shall include, but not be limited to the following:

(1) The danger to the public;

(2) The length of time since the violations;

(3) The number of times the licensee has been previously disciplined by the Board;

(4) The length of time the licensee has practiced;

(5) The actual damage, physical or otherwise, caused by the violation;

(6) The deterrent effect of the penalty imposed;

(7) The effect of penalty upon the licensee’s livelihood;

(8) Any effort of rehabilitation by the licensee;

(9) The actual knowledge of the licensee pertaining to the violation;

(10) Attempts by the licensee to correct or stop violations or refusal by licensee to correct or stop violations;

(11) Related violations against licensee in another state, including findings of guilt or innocence, penalties imposed and penalties served;

(12) The actual negligence of the licensee pertaining to any violations;

(13) The penalties imposed for related offenses;

(14) The pecuniary gain to the licensee;

(15) Any other relevant mitigating or aggravating factors under the circumstances. Any penalties imposed by the board may not exceed the maximum penalties set forth in section 459.015(2), F.S.

Rulemaking Authority 456.079 FS. Law Implemented 456.079 FS. History–New 9-30-87, Formerly 21R-19.003, 61F9-19.003, 59W-19.003, Amended 7-13-04.

64B15-19.004 Time for Payment of Civil Penalties.

In cases where the Board of Osteopathic Medicine imposes a civil penalty for violation of chapter 456 or 459, F.S., or the rules promulgated pursuant thereunder, the penalty shall be paid within thirty (30) days of its imposition by Order of the Board unless stated otherwise in the Order.

Rulemaking Authority 456.072(4), 459.005 FS. Law Implemented 456.072(4), FS. History–New 12-23-80, Formerly 21R-11.02, 21R-11.002, 21R-19.004, 61F9-19.004, 59W-19.004, Amended 11-12-00.

64B15-19.0041 Standard Terms Applicable to Orders.

Unless otherwise approved by the Board or its designee, or addressed by the Final Order, the following are the terms applicable to all Final Orders rendered by the Board in disciplinary proceedings.

(1) Payment of Fines and Costs. All fines and costs shall be paid by check or money order made payable to the Board and sent to DOH/Compliance Management Unit, Bin #C76, P.O. Box 6320, Tallahassee, Florida 32314-6320, within 30 days of the filing of the Order.

(2) Addresses. Respondent must keep current residence and practice addresses on file with the Board. Respondent shall notify the Compliance Office, in writing, within 10 days of any changes of those addresses. Furthermore, if the Respondent’s license is on probation, the Respondent shall notify the Compliance Office within 10 days in the event that Respondent leaves the active practice of medicine in Florida.

(3) Compliance Address. All reports, correspondence and inquiries shall be sent to: DOH, Compliance Management Unit, Bin #C76, 4052 Bald Cypress Way, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3251, Attn: Osteopathic Medicine Compliance Officer.

(4) Continuing Education. Continuing education imposed by Board Order shall be in addition to those hours required for biennial renewal of licensure. The Board confers authority on the Chair to approve or disapprove said continuing education courses. The Respondent is required to submit a course syllabus for all continuing education courses that the Respondent needs to have the Chair approve. The courses shall consist of a formal live lecture format. The time frame for completing such continuing education follows:

(a) Florida Medical Association sponsored medical records course or Board approved equivalent is to be completed within twelve (12) months from the date the Order is filed;

(b) University of Florida sponsored prescribing course or Board-approved equivalent is to be completed within twelve (12) months from the date the Order is filed; and,
(c) Continuing medical education is to be completed within twelve (12) months from the date the order is filed.

(5) Lectures. In the event the Respondent is required by Board Order to present an original one (1) hour lecture on a specific topic, one component of the lecture must address the specific events arising from the Respondent’s disciplinary matter. The Respondent shall present the lecture to the medical staff of a hospital or ambulatory surgical center at which the Respondent maintains staff privileges or to an osteopathic medical society meeting.

(a) Respondent is required to submit a written plan to the Board for approval prior to the performance of said lecture. The written plan shall include an outline of the content to be presented, a list of references, and proposed venue, date, and time. The Board confers authority to the Chair to approve the proposed lecture.

(b) Lectures imposed by Order of the Board shall be completed within six (6) months from the date the Order is filed. Within seven (7) months of the Order, documentation from the physician shall set forth the date, time, place, topic, and duration of the lecture, and be submitted to the Compliance Officer. In addition, the Respondent shall submit to the Compliance Officer a letter from the facility’s certified licensed risk manager or Director of Medical Education or if presented to an osteopathic medical society a letter signed by the society’s executive director or president which indicates the date, time, location, and length of the lecture and the number of physicians (osteopathic and allopathic) in attendance.

(6) Written Articles. In the event the Respondent is required by Board Order to write an article addressing the subject based upon the specific events arising from the Respondent’s disciplinary matter, Respondent is required to submit the article to the Board for approval within six (6) months from the date the Order is filed. The article shall be a minimum of ten (10) pages and shall contain a title page, abstract, introduction, review of results, discussion, conclusion, acknowledgements, and references. The article must review at least five (5) articles on the required subject published in medical peer-reviewed journals within the past three (3) years. The Respondent shall describe how the information reviewed will be used in his or her practice. The Board confers authority to the Chair for approval of the article.

(7) PRN Required. Should the Board determine that a contract by the Professionals Resource Network (PRN) is appropriate, Respondent shall participate and comply with the PRN contract.

(a) Respondent shall enter into an after care contract with PRN, shall comply with all its terms, and shall be responsible for assuring that the medical director of PRN send the Board a copy of said contract.

(b) Respondent shall execute a release that authorizes PRN to release information and medical records (including psychiatric records and records relating to treatment for drug dependence and alcoholism) to the Board of Osteopathic Medicine as needed to monitor the progress of Respondent in the PRN program.

(c) Respondent shall authorize the director of PRN to report to the Board of Osteopathic Medicine any problems that may occur with Respondent and any violations of chapter 456 or 459, F.S. Such a report shall be made within 30 days of the occurrence of any problems, or violations of chapter 456 or 459, F.S.

(8) Restrictions on Treating Female Patients. Should the Board determine there should be a restriction on treating female patients, Respondent shall not examine or treat female patients without a female chaperone who is a health care practitioner licensed by the Florida Department of Health present in the room in any examination or treatment setting. The Respondent is required to maintain a log of each such patient contact, and the name of the chaperone present. The log shall be immediately available to a Department of Health inspector, monitor, and Board Compliance Officer upon request.

(9) Continuity of Practice.

(a) Tolling Provisions. In the event the Respondent leaves the State of Florida for a period of 30 days or more or otherwise does not or may not engage in the active practice of osteopathic medicine in the State of Florida, then certain provisions of the requirements in the Board’s Order shall be tolled and shall remain in a tolled status until Respondent returns to the active practice of osteopathic medicine in the State of Florida. Respondent shall notify the Compliance Officer 10 days prior to his or her return to practice in the State of Florida. The following requirements shall be tolled until the Respondent returns to active practice:

1. The time period of probation shall be tolled.

2. The provisions regarding supervision whether direct or indirect by the monitor/supervisor, and required reports from the monitor/supervisor shall be tolled.

3. The requirement for quality assurance review of Respondent’s practice shall be tolled.

4. Any requirements regarding lectures.

(b) Active Practice. In the event that Respondent leaves the active practice of osteopathic medicine for a period of one year or more, the Respondent may be required to appear before the Board and demonstrate the ability to practice osteopathic medicine with reasonable skill and safety to patients prior to resuming the practice of osteopathic medicine in the State of Florida.

(10) Probation Terms. If probation was imposed by Board Order, the following provisions are applicable:

(a) Definitions.

1. Indirect Supervision is supervision by a monitoring physician (monitor), as set forth in the Board’s Order. Indirect supervision does not require that the monitor practice on the same premises as the Respondent. However, the monitor shall practice within a reasonable geographic proximity to Respondent, which shall be within 20 miles and shall be readily available for consultation. The monitor shall be board-certified in the Respondent’s specialty area.

2. Direct Supervision is supervision by a supervising physician (supervisor), as set forth in the Order. Direct supervision requires that the supervisor and Respondent work in the same office. The supervisor shall be board-certified in the Respondent’s specialty area.

(b) Required Supervision.

1. If the terms of the Order include indirect monitoring of the licensee’s practice (monitoring) or direct monitoring of the licensee’s practice (supervision), the Respondent shall not practice osteopathic medicine without an approved monitor/supervisor, as specified by the Final Order.

2. The monitor/supervisor must be licensed under chapter 459 or 458, F.S., in good standing, in active status, without restriction or limitation on his or her license, must be qualified by training and experience, and must not have any conflicts of interest that would prohibit him or her from impartially performing his or her duties as a monitor/supervisor. Specific grounds for rejecting a proposed monitor/supervisor by the Board or its designee shall include but are not limited to the following:

a. The proposed monitor/supervisor has previously been subject to disciplinary action against his/her medical license in this or any other jurisdiction,
b. The proposed monitor/supervisor is currently under investigation, or is the subject of a pending disciplinary action,
c. The proposed monitor/supervisor is not actively engaged in the same or similar specialty area,
d. The proposed monitor/supervisor is not practicing within a distance of no more than 20 miles from the Respondent’s practice location,
e. The proposed monitor/supervisor is a relative or employee of the Respondent.

(c) Temporary Approval. The Board confers authority on the Chair to temporarily approve Respondent’s monitor/supervisor. To obtain this temporary approval, Respondent shall submit to the Compliance Officer the name and curriculum vitae of the proposed monitor/supervisor, and letter from the proposed monitor/supervisor stating that he or she is willing to serve as a monitor/supervisor, that he or she has received a copy of the Administrative Complaint and Final Order, that he or she is aware of his or her duties and responsibilities as a monitor/supervisor, that he or she discloses any conflicts of interests, and specifies distance to the Respondent’s practice location, and that he or she agrees to appear before the Board for formal approval at the next meeting of the Board. This information shall be furnished to the Chair by way of the Compliance Officer. Should Respondent’s monitoring/supervising physician be temporarily approved, said approval shall only remain in effect until the next meeting of the Board. Absent said approval, Respondent shall not practice osteopathic medicine until a monitoring/supervising physician is approved.

(d) Formal Approval. Respondent shall have the monitor/supervisor with him or her at the first probation appearance before the Board. Prior to consideration of the monitor/supervisor by the Board, the Respondent shall provide the monitor/supervisor a copy of the Administrative Complaint and the Board’s Order in this case. Respondent shall submit a current curriculum vitae, a description of current practice, and a letter agreeing to serve from the proposed monitor/supervisor to the Compliance Officer no later than 21 days before the Respondent’s first scheduled probation appearance. Respondent’s monitor/supervisor shall also appear before the Board at such times as directed by the Board. It shall be the Respondent’s responsibility to ensure the appearance of his or her monitor/supervisor as directed. Failure of the monitor/supervisor to appear as directed shall constitute a violation of the terms of the Board’s Order and shall render the Respondent subject to additional disciplinary action.

(e) Change in Monitor/Supervisor. In the event that Respondent’s monitor/supervisor is unable or unwilling to fulfill his/her responsibilities as a monitor/supervisor as described above, the Respondent shall advise the Compliance Office of this fact within 24 hours of becoming aware of the situation. Respondent shall submit to the Compliance Office the name of a temporary monitor/supervisor for consideration. Respondent shall not practice pending approval of this temporary monitor/supervisor by the Chair. Furthermore, Respondent shall make arrangements with his or her temporary monitor/supervisor to appear before the Board at its next regularly scheduled meeting for consideration of the monitor/supervisor. Respondent shall only practice under the supervision of the temporary monitor/supervisor (approved by the Chair) until the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board where at the issue of the Respondent’s new monitor/supervisor shall be addressed.

(f) Appearances. The Respondent shall appear before the Board at the first Board meeting after probation commences, at the last meeting of the Board preceding scheduled termination of probation, and at such other times as requested by the Board or Board Chair.

(g) Reports. If directed by Board Order, probation reports, in affidavit form, shall be submitted by the Respondent and shall contain the following:

1. Brief statement of why physician is on probation.

2. Practice location.

3. Describe current practice (type and composition).

4. Brief statement of compliance with probationary terms.

5. Describe relationship with monitoring/supervising physician.

6. Advise Compliance Officer of any problems including office incident reports filed; loss or restriction of hospital staff privileges; loss or restriction of DEA registration; or any Medicare/Medicaid program exclusions, restrictions or limitations.

(h) Monitor/Supervisor Reports. If directed by Board Order, monitor/supervisor reports, in affidavit form, shall include the following:

1. Brief statement of why physician is on probation.

2. Description of probationer’s practice.

3. Brief statement of probationer’s compliance with terms of probation.

4. Brief description of probationer’s relationship with monitoring physician.

5. Detail any problems which may have arisen with probationer.

(i) Monitor/Supervisor Medical Records Review. Should the Board determine that the Respondent’s medical records need to be reviewed, the Board shall set forth the percentage of the records and type of records to be reviewed by the monitoring/supervising physician. The patient records shall be selected by the supervising physician on a random basis at least once every month.

(j) Investigative Reports. Respondent understands that during the period of probation, at a minimum, semi-annual investigative reports will be compiled with the Department of Health concerning compliance with the terms and conditions of probation and the rules and statutes regulating the practice of medicine.

(11) Costs of Compliance. Respondent shall pay all costs necessary to comply with the terms of the Board’s Order. Such costs include, but are not limited to, the costs of preparation of the investigative reports detailing compliance with the terms of the Order, the cost of analysis of any blood or urine specimens submitted pursuant to the Order, and administrative costs directly associated with Respondent’s probation. See section 459.015(2), F.S.

(12) Supervision of Physician Assistance and or Anesthesiologist Assistants. Respondent is required to notify, in writing, any physician assistant and/or anesthesiologist assistant which the Probationer supervises, of his or her probationary status. A copy of said written notification(s) shall be submitted to the Board’s Compliance Officer within 10 days of entry of the Board’s Order. Supervision of physician assistants and/or anesthesia assistants is prohibited when a physician is on probation.

(13) Suspension. In the event that a Respondent’s license expires during the period that the license is suspended, this action shall not relieve the Respondent of the responsibility to renew the license at the end of each licensure period. If the Respondent fails to renew the license at the end of any licensure period, all normal conditions and consequences imposed by statute or rule of the Board for failure to timely and properly renew a license shall apply. Renewal of a suspended license during the period of suspension shall not affect the suspension of the license and the suspension shall continue until all requirements for reinstatement have been met.

(14) Return of License. Any Order which suspends a license, revokes a license, or accepts a Respondent’s offer to voluntarily relinquish his or her license shall require the Respondent to return the license to the Department within 30 days from the date the Final Order is filed. This shall not apply to instances where the Board or a court has granted the Respondent a stay of the suspension.

Rulemaking Authority 459.005(1), 459.015(5) FS. Law Implemented 459.015(5) FS. History–New 12-9-14.
64B15-19.005 Probationary Conditions and Definitions and Practice Restrictions.

(1) Indirect Supervision. Whenever a license is placed on probation or otherwise restricted in such a manner as to require the Respondent to practice under indirect supervision, the term indirect supervision does not require that the monitoring physician practice on the same premises as the Respondent; however, the monitor shall practice within a reasonable geographic proximity to Respondent, which shall be within 20 miles unless otherwise authorized by the Board, and shall be readily available for consultation.

(2) Direct Supervision. Whenever a license is placed on probation or otherwise restricted in such a manner as to require the Respondent to practice under direct supervision, the term direct supervision requires that the Respondent practice medicine only if the supervisor is on the premises.

(3) Provisions governing all supervised or monitored physicians.

(a) The supervisor/monitor shall be furnished with copies of the Administrative Complaint, Final Order, Stipulation (if applicable), and other relevant orders.

(b) The Respondent shall not practice without a supervisor/monitor unless otherwise ordered by the Board. The Respondent shall appear at the next meeting of the Board with his proposed supervisor or monitor unless otherwise ordered.

(c) After the next meeting of the Board, Respondent shall only practice under the supervision of the supervisor or monitor. If for any reason the approved supervisor/monitor is unwilling or unable to serve, Respondent and the supervisor/monitor shall immediately notify the Executive Director of the Board, and Respondent shall cease practice until a temporary supervisor/monitor is approved. The Chairman of the Board may approve a temporary supervisor/monitor who may serve in that capacity until the next meeting of the Board at which time the Board shall accept or reject a new proposed supervisor/monitor. If the Board rejects the proposed supervisor/monitor, Respondent shall cease practice until a new supervisor/monitor is approved by the Board.

(d) The supervisor/monitor must be a licensee under chapter 459 or 458, F.S., in good standing and without restriction or limitation on his license. In addition, the Board may reject any proposed supervisor/monitor on the basis that he or she has previously been subject to any disciplinary action against his or her license to practice osteopathic medicine in this or any other jurisdiction. The supervisor/monitor must be actively engaged in the same or similar specialty area unless otherwise provided by the Board. The Board may also reject any proposed supervisor/monitor for good cause shown.

(4) For purposes of determining the dates when reports are due, the date the Final Order is filed shall constitute the beginning of the quarter.

(a) All quarterly reports shall be provided to the Board office no later than three months from the filing date of the Final Order.

(b) All semiannual reports shall be provided to the Board office no later than six months from the filing date of the Final Order.

(c) All annual reports shall be provided to the Board office no later than twelve months from the filing date of the Final Order.
(5) Prohibition on the supervision of physician assistant (PA) or advanced registered nurse practitioner (ARNP) prescribers. In the event Respondent is restricted from the prescribing of one or more classes of controlled substances, Respondent may not delegate the prescribing of such classes of controlled substances to Physician Assistants (PAs) and Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners (ARNPs) until such time as the Respondent is no longer prohibited from prescribing said classes of controlled substances. Within ten days of entry of the final order, Respondent must provide the Board compliance officer with a copy of the amended written agreement required by Rule 64B15-6.0037, F.A.C., or protocols with ARNPs, as required by section 459.025, F.S., reflecting the withdrawal of delegation of controlled substances.
Rulemaking Authority 459.005 FS. Law Implemented 459.015(2), 459.022, 459.025 FS. History–New 4-18-89, Formerly 21R-19.005, 61F9-19.005, Amended 9-5-94, Formerly 59W-19.005, Amended 11-27-97, 10-20-98, 11-2-05, 12-9-14, 8-24-17.
64B15-19.0055 Reinstatement of License.

(1) No license to practice osteopathic medicine in Florida which was revoked by the Board after June 5, 1983, or which was voluntarily relinquished after July 1, 1988, shall be subject to reinstatement unless leave to petition for reinstatement was specifically authorized in the final order. An osteopathic physician whose license was revoked or relinquished may, however, apply for relicensure unless, in the case of relinquishment, the osteopathic physician explicitly agreed never to reapply for licensure.

(2) When disciplinary action is taken against a licensee which results in the licensee’s being unable to use the license for a period of time for reasons including, but not limited to, suspension, inactivation, or other restriction, but not including revocation subsequent to June 5, 1983, the licensee may petition for reinstatement of the license as follows:

(a) When the suspension, inactivation, or restriction is for a definite period of time and is not based upon the osteopathic physician’s ability to safely engage in the practice of osteopathic medicine pursuant to section 459.015(3), F.S., the license shall be reinstated upon expiration of the period of suspension if full compliance with the final order has been shown and the licensee has submitted documentation of completion of the continuing medical education requirements imposed on an active status licensee for all biennial licensure periods in which the licensee was suspended, inactive or under other restriction.
(b) When the suspension, inactivation, or other restriction is for a definite period of time, is based upon the osteopathic physician’s ability to safely engage in the practice of osteopathic medicine, or both, the licensee shall demonstrate to the Board at the expiration of the period of suspension, or immediately prior thereto, compliance with the terms and conditions of the final order, completion of the continuing medical education requirements imposed on an active status licensee for all biennial licensure periods in which the licensee was suspended, inactive or under other restriction, and, where applicable, the ability to safely engage in the practice of osteopathic medicine in order to obtain reinstatement. The Board shall consider reinstatement at either the Board meeting immediately preceding expiration or at any Board meeting subsequent thereto. If the licensee is able to demonstrate compliance with the terms of the final order and, where applicable, the ability to safely engage in the practice of osteopathic medicine, the Board shall reinstate the license.

(c) When the suspension, inactivation, or other restriction is for a definite period of time or for an indefinite period of time, the licensee may petition the Board to consider reinstatement of a license acted against for an indefinite period of time or early reinstatement of a license acted against for a definite period of time. When such a petition is filed, it must include all documentation of the petitioner’s compliance with the final order, completion of the continuing medical education requirements imposed on an active status licensee for all biennial licensure periods in which the licensee was suspended, inactive or under other restriction, petitioner’s ability to safely engage in practice, petitioner’s plan for the return to practice, and any other information which the petitioner would want the Board to consider if it grants the petition for consideration. If the plan for return to practice includes a period of supervised practice, the documentation should include the name of the proposed supervising physician and a written statement from the proposed supervising physician of his or her willingness to serve in that capacity. No oral testimony or personal appearance will be permitted at the time the Board hears a petition to consider reinstatement or early reinstatement. Upon the granting by the Board of the petition to consider such reinstatement or early reinstatement, the licensee shall, at a subsequent meeting, have an opportunity to demonstrate his or her ability to safely engage in the practice of osteopathic medicine and compliance with the terms of the final order. The Board shall reinstate the license upon a proper demonstration of competency and of compliance with the final order by the licensee.

(3) In order to demonstrate the ability to safely engage in the practice of osteopathic medicine, a licensee shall show compliance with all terms of the final order and may, in addition, present evidence of additional matters, including, but not limited to:

(a) Completion of continuing education courses approved by the Board;

(b) Participation in medical educational programs, including post-graduate training, internships, residencies, or fellowships;

(c) Submission of reports of mental or physical examination by appropriate professionals;

(d) Completion of treatment within a program designed to alleviate alcohol, chemical, or drug dependencies, including necessary aftercare measures or a plan for continuation of such treatment, as appropriate;

(e) If action was taken against a Florida license based on action taken against the license or the authority to practice osteopathic medicine by the licensing authority of another jurisdiction, proof that the licensee has a license in the jurisdiction which took action and that license is in good standing and unencumbered;

(f) If action was taken against the license based on conviction of, being found guilty of, or entry of a plea of nolo contendere to a crime, proof that all criminal sanctions imposed by the court have been satisfied; and,
(g) Other factors, not enumerated, which would demonstrate the osteopathic physician’s ability to safely engage in the practice of osteopathic medicine.

Rulemaking Authority 459.005, 459.015 FS. Law Implemented 459.015 FS. History–New 10-13-03.

64B15-19.006 Supervision of Physician Assistant.

No Physician whose license to practice medicine has been placed on probation shall, during the term of probation, serve as a Primary Supervising Physician or Alternate Supervising Physician, or in any other supervisory capacity, to a Physician Assistant.

Rulemaking Authority 459.005, 459.022 FS. Law Implemented 459.015(2)(g), 459.022(2)(f) FS. History–New 4-18-89, Formerly 21R-19.006, 61F9-19.006, 59W-19.006.

64B15-19.0065 Notices of Noncompliance; Minor Violations.

(1) For purposes of section 456.073(3), F.S., the Board finds the following list to be first time minor offenses. A minor offense is defined as an offense where there is no danger to public health, safety, and welfare and no indication of a serious inability to practice the profession, appropriate for notices of noncompliance. A notice of noncompliance in lieu of other action is authorized only if the violation is not a repeat violation and only if there is only one violation. If there are multiple violations, then the Department may not issue a notice of noncompliance, but must prosecute the violations under the other provisions of section 456.073, F.S. There are only two exceptions to the prohibition against use of a notice of noncompliance when there is more than one violation. The first is that a notice of noncompliance may be issued to a registered dispensing practitioner for a first time violation of one or more of the violations listed in paragraph (2)(b), subparagraphs 2., 3., if there is no evidence of diversion. The second is that a notice of noncompliance may be issued to a licensee for a first time violation of one or both of the violations listed in paragraph (2)(c). Failure of a licensee to take action in correcting the violation within 15 days after notice may result in the institution of regular disciplinary proceedings.

(2) The following violations are those for which the Board authorizes the Department to issue a notice of noncompliance.

(a) Advertising offenses specified herein.

1. Section 459.015(1)(d), F.S., which provides for physician discipline when the physician is found guilty of false, deceptive, or misleading advertising. The only type of false, deceptive, or misleading advertising which would be resolved by a notice of noncompliance would be advertising which is false, deceptive, or misleading because it fails to list the name of the physician conspicuously in the advertisement contrary to subsection 64B15-14.001(2), F.A.C. This would also be a violation of section 459.015(1)(pp), F.S., which provides for physician discipline when a physician is found guilty of, among other things, violating a rule of the board.

2. Section 459.015(1)(g), F.S., which provides for physician discipline when the physician is found guilty of failing to perform a statutory or legal obligation placed upon a licensed physician. The specific statutory obligation related to advertising, which, if not performed might merit the issuance of a notice of noncompliance, would be a failure to perform the statutory obligation set forth in section 456.062, F.S., provides that a specific disclosure statement must appear in any advertisement for a free, discounted fee, or reduced fee service, examination or treatment by a health care practitioner licensed pursuant to chapter 459, F.S.

(b) Failure to perform one of the following statutory or legal obligations:

1. Failing to maintain records relating to the receipt and disposition of controlled substances, and the required biennial inventory, as provided for in section 893.07, F.S. This violation may be resolved by a notice of noncompliance only if the whereabouts of the drugs can be accounted for by other means and there is no evidence of diversion.

2. Failing to, before dispensing any drug, give the patient a written prescription and orally or in writing advise the patient that the prescription may be filled in the practitioner’s office or at any pharmacy, in violation of section 465.0276(2)(c), F.S. This applies to dispensing practitioners only.

3. Dispensing medication without proper labeling, contrary to the provisions of section 893.05(2), F.S. This applies to dispensing practitioners only.

4. Failing to comply with the provisions of sections 381.026 and 381.0261, F.S., to provide patients with information about their patient rights and how to file a patient complaint.

5. Failing to timely provide medical records upon written request to a patient or a patient’s legal representative within 30 days, contrary to the provisions of section 456.057, F.S., and Rule 64B15-15.003, F.A.C. This violation may be resolved by a notice of noncompliance only if the medical records were provided to the requestor within 60 days of the request.

6. Failing to update the practitioner’s profile as required by sections 456.039(3) and 459.008, F.S., except that a notice of noncompliance is not authorized for failing to update the practitioner profile for items in sections 456.039(1)(a)7. and 456.039(1)(a)8., F.S.

7. Failing to submit notice to the Board when a physician enters into a formal supervisory relationship or standing orders with an emergency medical technician or paramedic licensed pursuant to section 401.27, F.S., or when the physician enters into an established protocol with an advanced registered nurse practitioner, as set forth in section 464.012, F.S.

(c) Violating any of the following provisions of chapter 459, F.S., as prohibited by section 459.015(1)(pp), F.S.:

1. Section 459.013, F.S., which provides for criminal penalties for the practice of medicine without an active license. A notice of noncompliance would be issued for this violation only if the subject of the investigation met the following criteria: the subject must be the holder of a license to practice medicine at all time material to the matter; that license is otherwise in good standing; and that license must be renewed and placed in an active status within 90 days of becoming delinquent. If the license was delinquent for more than 90 days and the individual continued to practice, then the matter would proceed under the other provisions of section 456.073, F.S.

2. Failing to notify the Board of a change of practice location, contrary to sections 459.008(3) and 456.035(1), F.S.
(d) Failing to submit documentation to the Department within 14 days of issuing a certification as required under section 381.986(4)(b), F.S.
Rulemaking Authority 120.695, 456.073(3), 459.005 FS. Law Implemented 120.695, 456.073(3) FS. History–New 1-19-17, Amended 8-9-18.

64B15-19.007 Citations.

(1) As used in this rule, “citation” means an instrument which meets the requirements set forth in section 456.077, F.S., and which is served upon a licensee or certificateholder for the purpose of assessing a penalty in an amount established by this rule.

(2) In lieu of the disciplinary procedures contained in section 456.073, F.S., the Department is hereby authorized to dispose of any violation designated herein by issuing a citation to the subject for a complaint that is the basis for the citation.

(3) The following violations with accompanying fines may be disposed of by citation.

(a) Falsely certifying compliance with required continuing medical education hours for the purpose of renewing a license or certificate. The fine shall be $2,000.

(b) Failure to keep current mailing or practice address on file with the Board. The fine shall be $250.
(c) Failure to register as a dispensing practitioner. The fine shall be $500.
(d) Failure of the licensee to satisfy continuing education hours. The fine shall be $75 for each hour not completed or completed late. In addition, the licensee shall make up all hours not completed, and such hours shall not be counted toward the current renewal cycle.

(e) Failure to report to the Board within 30 days after the licensee has been convicted or found guilty of, or entered a plea of nolo contendere to, regardless of adjudication, a crime in any jurisdiction. The fine shall be $800.00.

(f) Failure to conspicuously list the name of the osteopathic physician in an advertisement as required in paragraph 64B15-14.001(2)(k), F.A.C. The fine shall be $500.00.

(g) Advertising or holding oneself out as a board-certified specialist, if not qualified under section 459.0152, F.S. The fine shall be $1,500.00.

(h) Failure to include the disclosure statement in an advertisement as required in section 456.062, F.S. The fine shall be $750.00.

(i) Failure to timely provide medical records, upon request to a patient or a patient’s legal representative. The fine shall be $500.00.

(j) Charging copying fees for patient records in violation of Rule 64B15-15.003, F.A.C. The fine shall be $750.00.

(k) Failure to update physician profile as required in sections 456.039(3) and 459.008, F.S. The fine shall be $50 per day not in compliance not to exceed $5,000.00.

(l) Failure to comply with section 381.0261, F.S., by failing to inform patients of the address and telephone number of the agency responsible for responding to patient complaints or failure to make available a summary of rights to patients as required in sections 459.015(1)(g) and 456.072(1)(k), F.S.; section 381.0261(4)(b), F.S. The fine shall be $100 non-willful and $500 willful.

(m) Failure to report another licensee in violation; sections 456.072(1)(i) and 459.015(1)(e), F.S. The fine shall be $500.00.

(n) Allowing a physician in training who has failed to register as required in section 459.021, F.S., to practice medicine. The director of medical education in the training program shall be fined $500.00 for violating section 456.072(1)(j), F.S.

(o) Failure to comply with the guidelines for the use of obesity drugs in instances which do not result in patient harm. The fine shall be $500.00.
(p) Failure to pay fine or costs imposed by Board Order within 30 days of the due date of the fine or costs. The fine shall be $1,000.00.

(q) Negligently failing to file a report or record required by state or federal law. The fine shall be $500.00.
(r) Failure of the designated physician in pain management clinic to submit the data required by sections 459.0137(2)(j)2. and 459.015(1)(g), F.S. The fine shall be $1,000.00 and a requirement to submit the delinquent data within 30 days.

(s) Willfully failing to comply with section 627.64194 or 641.513, F.S., with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice, as required by section 459.015(1)(vv), F.S. The fine shall be $250.00 for a first time violation and the fine shall be $1,000.00 for a second time violation.
(t) Failure to submit documentation to the Department within 14 days of issuing a certification as required under section 386.986(4)(b), F.S., as required by section 459.015(1)(ww), F.S. The first-time violation shall result in a $100.00 fine and requirement for submission of delinquent documentation within 14 days. The second-time violation shall result in a $250.00 fine as requirement for submission of delinquent documentaiton within 14 days.

(u) Failure to consult the Prescription Drug Monitoring system as required by section 893.055(8), F.S. The first-time violation shall result in a $100.00 fine. The second-time violation shall result in a $150.00 fine. The third-time violation shall result in a $200.00 fine.

(v) Failure to report adverse incidents occurring in planned out-of-hospital births as required by section 456.0495, F.S. The fine shall be $1,000.00.

(w) Failure of the designated physician of a pain management clinic to notify the Board within 10 days of terminating his or her employment with the pain management clinic; or failure of any physician practicing in a pain management clinic to notify the Board of his or her beginning or ending practice at a pain management clinic, as required by section 459.0137(3)(e), F.S. The fine shall be $250 and the submission of the required notice within 10 days for a first-time violation. The fine shall be $500 and the submission of the required notice within 10 days for a second-time violation.

(4) If the subject does not dispute the matter in the citation in writing within 30 days after the citation is served by personal service or within 30 days after receipt by certified mail, the citation shall become a final order of the Board of Osteopathic Medical Examiners. For violations of paragraphs (3)(a) through (c), and (3)(e) through (o), above, the subject has 30 days from the date the citation becomes a final order to pay the fine and costs. For violations of paragraph (3)(d), above, the subject has one year from the date the citation becomes a final order to pay the fine and costs and to submit certified documentation of completion of all CEU requirements for the period for which the citation was issued.

Failure to pay the fine and costs within the prescribed time period constitutes a violation of section 459.015(1)(bb), F.S., which will result in further disciplinary action. All fines and costs are to be made payable to “Department of Health – Citation.”

(5) Once the citation becomes a final order, the citation and complaint become a public record pursuant to chapter 119, F.S., unless otherwise exempt from the provisions of chapter 119, F.S. The citation and complaint may be considered as aggravating circumstances in future disciplinary actions pursuant to rule 64B15-19.003, F.A.C.

Rulemaking Authority 456.077 FS. Law Implemented 456.077 FS. History–New 10-28-91, Amended 8-24-92, 11-17-92, Formerly 21R-19.007, 61F9-19.007, 59W-19.007, Amended 11-27-97, 11-12-00, 1-29-03, 7-13-03, 5-12-05, 4-15-10, 10-8-12, 8-13-15, 11-27-16, 8-9-18, 11-15-18.
64B15-19.008 Mediation.

(1) The provisions set forth in subsection (2), below, shall qualify for mediation only when the violation can be remedied by the licensee and there is no intentional misconduct.

(2) The Board finds that the following offenses may be mediated if the offense meets the criteria of section 456.078, F.S.:

(a) False, deceptive or misleading advertising not involving intentional misconduct;

(b) Failure to comply with the requirements of sections 381.026 and 381.0261, F.S., to provide patients with information about their patient rights and how to file a patient complaint;
(c) Failure to provide, upon request, patient records to a patient or a patient’s legal representative;

(d) Negligently failing to file a report or record required by state or federal law;
(e) Falsely certifying compliance with required continuing medical education hours for the purpose of renewing a license or certification;

(f) Failure to verify profile information or failure to comply with the requirements for profiling and credentialing;

(g) Failure to notify the Department of change of practice or mailing address;

(h) Charging copying fees for patient records in violation of Rule 64B15-15.003, F.A.C.; and,

(i) Failure to pay the fines or costs imposed by Board order.

(3) If a licensee is no longer eligible for mediation or if mediation fails, the above-referenced violations shall be eligible for the issuance of a citation pursuant to Rule 64B15-19.007, F.A.C.
Rulemaking Authority 456.078 FS. Law Implemented 456.078 FS. History–New 11-30-94, Formerly 59W-19.008, Amended 5-3-05, 7-29-08, 10-8-12.
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 164B15-19.009 Submission of Malpractice Record.

(1) All physicians licensed pursuant to Chapter 459, F.S., shall provide the Board of Osteopathic Medicine a copy of the record of any finding of medical malpractice resulting from a civil or administrative proceeding involving an incident that occurred on or after November 2, 2004 within 180 days of entry of the final judgment or order, or within 180 days of the effective date of this rule, whichever is later. The record shall be sent to the Board of Osteopathic Medicine, 4052 Bald Cypress Way, BIN-CO6, Tallahassee, Florida 32399.

(2) The record shall include the official transcript of the civil or administrative proceeding resulting in a finding of medical malpractice, excluding any jury selection transcript, all evidence admitted or copies of evidence if original is not available, those matters officially recognized by the civil or administrative tribunal, and the final order or judgment reported or issued by the tribunal.

(3) The record shall be provided to the Board on a read only CD ROM disc in portable document format (.pdf) or tagged image file format (.tif).

Rulemaking Authority 456.50(2) FS. Law Implemented 456.50(2) FS. History–New 7-31-07.
